
 

Lloyd White 
Head of Democratic Services 
London Borough of Hillingdon, 
3E/05, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 
www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

   

Education & 
Children's Services 
Policy Overview 
Committee 

 

   

Date: TUESDAY, 23 MARCH 2010 
 

Time: 7.00 PM 
 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 3, 
HIGH STREET, UXBRIDGE, 
UB8 1UW 
 

  
Meeting 
Details: 

Members of the Public and 
Press are welcome to attend 
this meeting  
 

 

 
Councillors on the Committee 
 
Catherine Dann (Chairman) 
Brian Crowe (Vice-Chairman) 
Judith Cooper 
Peter Curling 
John Hensley 
Anita MacDonald 
 
Other Voting Representatives 
Anthony Little, Roman Catholic Diocesan 

  
Published: Wednesday 10 March 2010 

 
 
This agenda and associated 
reports can be made available 
in other languages, in Braille, 
large print or on audio tape on 
request.  Please contact us for 
further information.  
 

 Contact:  Natasha Dogra 
Tel: 01895 277488 
Fax: 01895 277373 
Email: NDogra@hillingdon.gov.uk 

 
This Agenda is available online at:  
http://modgov.hillingdon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=242&MId=276&Ver=4 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 

 

Useful information 
 
Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services 
 
Please enter from the Council’s main reception 
where you will be directed to the Committee 
Room. An Induction Loop System is available for 
use in the various meeting rooms. Please contact 
us for further information.  
 
Please switch off any mobile telephones and 
BlackBerries™ before the meeting. Any 
recording of the meeting is not allowed, either 
using electronic, mobile or visual devices.  
 
If there is a FIRE in the building the alarm will 
sound continuously. If there is a BOMB ALERT 
the alarm sounds intermittently. Please make your way to the nearest FIRE EXIT.    
 

 



 

Agenda 
 
 
 

1 Apologies of absence 

2 Declarations of Interest in matter coming before this meeting 

3 To confirm that all items marked Part I will be considered in public, and all items 
marked Part II will be considered in private. 

4 To receive and agree the minutes of 11 February 2010 

5 Update - achievement of looked-after child and report on virtual schooling 

6 Overview of safeguarding responsibilities and scrutiny paper 

7 Review 2: Child Trafficking - conclusions and recommendations 

8 To agree the Forward Plan 2010 

9 To agree the Work Programme 2010 



This page is intentionally left blank



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Minutes 
 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview 
Committee 
11 February 2010 
Meeting held at High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 

 

 
 

Members Present:  
Councillors Catherine Dann (Chairman), Brian Crowe (Vice-Chairman), Peter Curling, Judith 
Cooper, Anita MacDonald, and John Hensley.  
 
Officers Present: Natasha Dogra. 
 
Others Present: 
Tony Little (Roman Catholic Diocesan Representative), Jane Graver (Head of Care, Respite 
Unit), Paula Neil (Manager, Asylum Team LBH), and Dan Coombs (Uxbridge Gazette). 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
None. 
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN MATTER COMING BEFORE THIS MEETING 
 
Councillors Catherine Dann, Judith Cooper, Anita MacDonald, & John Hensley and Tony 
Little declared personal interests in all items on the agenda due to their roles as school 
governors.  
 
3. TO CONFIRM THAT ALL ITEMS MARKED PART 1 WILL BE CONSIDERED IN PUBLIC 
AND ALL THOSE MARKED IN PART 2 WILL BE CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE 
 
All items were Part 1 and were considered in public. 
 

4. TO RECEIVE AND AGREE THE MINUTES OF 11 JANUARY 2009 
 
The minutes were agreed by the Committee. 
 
5. Review 2: CHILD TRAFFICKING – witness session 2. 
 
The Chairman welcomed external witnesses Jane Graver (Head of Care, 
Respite Unit) and Paula Reid (Manager, Asylum Team LBH). 

Witnesses began their presentations to Committee by informing the Committee 
that the Asylum Team supported unaccompanied minors who ranged from 
under 16 year olds to 24 year olds. Many of these children were assessed as 
being victims of child trafficking and some pleaded asylum. The awareness 
around child trafficking had risen to a higher level and as a result the London 
Borough of Hillingdon was very proactive in their response to this activity. The 
level of understanding around child trafficking and the level of support available 
had developed significantly in the last few years. For example, it had been 

Action By: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 

noted that profiles and patterns between trafficked children varied according to 
the differing ethnicities of the children.  

Immigration was the first point of contact with the trafficked child. The Asylum 
Team worked very closely with Immigration at the Heathrow Port of Entry due 
to the need to provide intense support to the children in the first few days after 
arrival. The level of support available out-of-hours had also increased due to a 
larger capacity of staff available to respond to children arriving at Heathrow 
Airport.  

Witnesses continued to explain the surroundings trafficked children were kept 
in. Staff at respite units worked very closely with the child to ensure that they 
were as comfortable as possible. Staff understood that the child would be 
frightened of their new surroundings and therefore treated the child with 
respect and care. The child was made to feel safe, but most children appeared 
withdrawn and traumatised at first.  

Children were monitored at all times and accompanied in and around the 
centre. The profiling of the children allowed trends to be established, which led 
to fake stories being picked up early on. Children were usually told what to say 
by their traffickers and therefore it was difficult for staff to unveil the truth about 
their origin and purpose of their visit.  

The Chairman thanked the Committee and opened the floor to questions. 
Members asked witnesses whether more children of a certain gender were 
trafficked. Witnesses said the children were mixed but a large proportion of the 
trafficked children were female. Witnesses said that some of these females 
would come into the respite unit pregnant or would become pregnant while in 
care.  

Members asked witnesses whether the children wanted to be reunited with 
their families. Witnesses said that most children were afraid of returning home 
due to unpaid fees to traffickers. Children had been bought here on a promise 
of a better life and therefore did not want to return home. However, some 
children undergo ‘voluntary removal’ and are returned home accompanied by a 
social worker to ensure a safe reception at home.  

Members asked witnesses how staff tackled children trying to escape respite 
units. Witnesses said that due to a combination of increased education around 
child trafficking and excellent communication between immigration, the police 
and the asylum team the information about each child was shared at fortnightly 
meetings. This allowed better intelligence, better sharing of information and 
less disruption of the assessment period when the child arrives. This in turn led 
to a reduction in the number of children escaping as their needs were 
anticipated and patterns were developed which were flagged up by staff to 
ensure certain children were monitored very closely.  

 

Witnesses informed the Committee that there was a lack of support from the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 

child’s country of origin. It was possible for immigration to track down the route 
of the child, but the route was usually extremely long-winded and had taken 
months to complete. Therefore embassies of other countries were reluctant to 
help as it was difficult to prove that the child was there and the purpose of the 
child’s visit.  

The Committee asked witnesses what improvements could be made. 
Witnesses said the London Borough of Hillingdon had done very well in 
developing the standard of the asylum service and the safeguarding of 
trafficked children. The development of the provision of resources had also 
helped this process. One area which needed developing was the level of 
training and support available for foster carers. Foster carers needed to be 
trained on the risks involved when a child tries to escape and how to monitor 
the child when they cannot be cared for by the carer. More training was needed 
in the early days following the fostering of a child. Witnesses informed the 
Committee that foster carers got an initial briefing but were not specifically 
trained in caring for trafficked children. Specific skills were necessary when 
working with this group of children which needed to be developed.  

Members asked witnesses whether there was a language problem when 
communicating with the child. Witnesses said that their staff were able to 
communicate with the children.  

Respite units had classrooms where children could be taught and a library 
where the children could further their knowledge. The cook in the unit was very 
creative and tried to involve the children as much as possible. Medical issues 
were dealt with very seriously and each child was screened for any medical 
issues relating to their country of origin. Children were assessed and only then 
allowed out of the centre alone, for example to travel to college. The units are 
funded by central government and the UKBA asylum fund. 

The Chairman thanked the witnesses and offered them the opportunity to 
leave. The Committee decided to include the following conclusions in their final 
report: 

1. There was a need for better interagency communication. This would 
allow different agencies to share expertise and information. 

2. Training for foster carers needed to be developed.  

3. There was a desirability of cooperation, involvement and support from 
embassies of countries where children are being trafficked from.  

Agreed: 
The Committee agreed to include the above conclusions in the final 
report of their review of Child Trafficking. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Natasha 
Dogra 
DCEO 
 

6. FORWARD PLAN 
 
The Committee were directed to the Cabinet Report on Schools Budget to be 

 

Page 3



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

considered at the 18 February Cabinet meeting. The Committee agreed to 
send any comments for Cabinet to Natasha Dogra to relay on to Cabinet. 
 
The Committee agreed the Forward Plan 
 
7. WORK PROGRAMME 
 
The Committee asked that the following information be supplied to Members: 
 
1. School Entry (P 31) - Committee members requested a written report 
providing more information on the implications of having to find additional 
school entry places (cost and planning implications/ longer term impact on 
secondary schools). This would be an extra Agenda item at the 27th April POC 
Meeting Agenda. 
  
2. SEN Out of Borough Placements ( P 23) - The Committee requested a 
written response from the Directorate clarifying why Option 1 has been turned 
down by the Schools Forum   
  
3. Procurement Officer (P 49) - The Directorate was asked to explain why 
schools would not want the benefit of a Procurement Officer. 
  
4. The Committee requested an update on the progress of Children's Centres - 
are they on track / are they delivering? This item was added to the 27th April 
POC Meeting Agenda.    
 
The Committee agreed the Work Programme. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Chris 
Spencer, 
ECS 
 
 
 
Debbie 
Haith,  
EYL 
 
 
 
Sarah Harty, 
F&R 
 
 
 
Debbie 
Haith,  
EYL 

 
The meeting closed at 21.30 

 
 

 
 

Page 4



Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 
Part I – Members, Public & Press 
 

HILLINGDON VIRTUAL SCHOOL FOR CHILDREN IN CARE 
 

§ London Borough of Hillingdon appointed a Virtual Headteacher in 
October 2008 to support looked after children’s education and 
challenge services to ensure best outcomes.  

§ The Looked After Children’s Education (LACE) Team is now managed 
by the Headteacher and the service is called Hillingdon Virtual School.  

§ In September 2009, the role of Designated Teacher for Looked After 
Children became a statutory role in all schools. This in to ensure that 
schools meet the individual needs of looked after pupils as a specific 
vulnerable group monitored by Ofsted. 

§ The Personal Education Plan (PEP) is a statutory document for all 
looked after children, which is completed every 6 months, in line with 
care planning reviews. The London Borough of Hillingdon has adopted 
the Pan London PEP to raise the level and quality of PEPs being 
completed across London.  

 
 
KS2 & KS4 ATTAINMENT OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN IN 
HILLINGDON SCHOOLS 2008-2009 
 
There were 314 children looked after at 30 September 2008 who had been 
looked after for at least 12 months. Of these: 
 
71% were eligible to receive full-time schooling during the school year. 23% of 
whom were covered by a statement of special educational needs (at some 
point during the academic year 2008-2009). 
 

Key Stage 2 2009 
 

Percentage of this cohort  who sat all of these tests  
73% 

Percentage of this cohort  attained at least level 4 in English 33% 
Percentage of this cohort  attained at least level 4 in 
mathematics 20% 

Percentage of this cohort  attained at least level 4 in science 33% 
 

Key Stage 4 2009 
 

Percentage of this cohort  who sat at least 1 GCSE (or 
equivalent) examinations 

 
61% 

 Percentage of this cohort  who obtained at least 1 GCSE (or 
equivalent) at grade A* to G 61% 

 Percentage of this cohort  who obtained at least 5 GCSEs (or 
equivalent) at grade A* to G  40% 

 Percentage of this cohort  who obtained at least 5 GCSEs (or 
equivalent) at grade A* to C including English and 
mathematics 

15% 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 
Part I – Members, Public & Press 
 

 

Update to Children’s Policy Overview Committee on the governance 
arrangements for safeguarding and Scrutiny 

 
      Contact Officer: Debbie Haith 

 
1.1 Introduction 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the governance and 
scrutiny arrangements for safeguarding within the council and across 
partnerships. 
 
1.2 Background and Context 
 
The 2004 Children Act established the legislative framework for the duty to 
cooperate across agencies and the establishment of Children’s Trusts and 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board’s (LSCB). Following the introduction of 
the legislation, statutory guidance was issued on the roles and responsibilities 
of Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards, Children’s Trust arrangements and 
the roles and responsibilities of the Leader of the Council, the Lead Member 
for Children, the Chief Executive and the Director of Children’s Services. 
Following the death of Baby Peter in Haringey Lord Lamings report set out 
recommendations to clarify and strengthen the relationship between the Local 
Children’s Safeguarding Board and the Children’s Trust. Legislation was 
introduced as part of the Apprentiships Skills, Children and Learners Act 2009 
which set out key responsibilities and accountabilities. 
 
 
2. The role of the Children’s Trust (CT) 
 
The Trust is the local partnership between all commissioners and current and 
potential providers of services for children young people and families. It exists 
to realise the principles of Every Child Matters, to work across professional 
and agency boundaries, to tackle complex problems proactively to make a 
real difference. In practice this means better integrated and outcome focused 
ways of working with children and families. 
 
The number of relevant partners under a duty to cooperate now includes all 
schools, six form and FE colleges, Job Centre Plus; 
 
Responsibilities of the Children’s Trust 
 
The Children’s Trust Board develops the local strategy for improving 
children’s lives which is set out in the statutory Children and Young Peoples 
Plan and focuses on four key local priorities: 

 
• Having specialist, early intervention and prevention services for all 

children and young people identified as having additional needs. 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 7



Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 
Part I – Members, Public & Press 
 

 

• Narrowing the Gap: Having a strategy in place to reduce child poverty 
including raising aspirations and attainment of the whole family. 
 

• Using multi-agency teams, working through Children’s Centres to 
address the needs of children underachieving at the Early Years 
Foundation. 

 
• Developing effective joint working and commissioning, and listening to 

views of children, young people and families.  
 

3. Responsibilities of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) 
 
 The LSCB contributes to the wider goals of the Trust to improve the wellbeing 
of all children but has a particular focus on staying safe. 
 
LSCB is responsible for: 

 
• Challenging members of the Children’s Trust on matters relating to 

keeping children safe 
 

• Publishing annual report on effectiveness of arrangements locally and 
the contribution of each partner. 

 
• Coordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of its member 

organisations. 
 

• Challenging partners ensuring lessons learnt from Serious Case 
Reviews and implemented 

 
• Contributing to the wider goals of the Children’s Trust and as a 

particular focus on staying safe 
 

• Priority consultation during the development of the Children’s Plan 
 
 
4. Governance and accountability between the Children’s Trust and the 
LSCB 
 
The LSCB should report to the Children’s Trust Board and publish an annual 
report on the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area. LSCB should 
provide robust challenge to the work of the Trust and its partners in order to 
ensure that the right systems and quality of service and practice are in place 
so that children are properly safeguarded. Hillingdon Safeguarding Children’s 
Board now has an independent Chairman.  
 
 
 
5. Roles of Director of Children’s Services and Lead Member 
 

Page 8



Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 
Part I – Members, Public & Press 
 

 

• DCS and Lead Member both have central roles, as set out in Statutory 
Guidance issued in July 2009 

 
• Both should be members of CTB, DCS should be member of LSCB 

with LM a participant observer 
 

• DCS has lead responsibility for improving outcomes for children 
 

• LM provides political leadership and is politically accountable 
 

• LM should assure themselves that effective Quality Assurance systems 
are in place 

 
4. Roles of Local Authority Chief Executives and Council Leaders 
 
In 2009 statutory guidance on the roles of the Director of Children’s Services 
and the Lead Member were issued, the guidance also emphasised the role of 
the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive  
 
Chief Executives are responsible for satisfying themselves that the DCS is 
fulfilling their responsibilities including: 
 

• Ensuring CTB and LSCB working together effectively 
 
• Having clear responsibility assigned between partners 

 
• Ensuring targets are reported to LSP 

 
The LSCB Chairman’s annual report will be considered by the Leader of the 
Council and the Chief Executive in their assessments of the effectiveness of 
partnerships. 
 
5. Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Council's Constitution states the Terms of Reference, which are common 
to all Policy Overview Committees (POC).  The Committee conducts reviews 
of policy, services or aspects of services according to the agreed criteria for 
selecting such reviews it also monitors the performance of the Council 
Services within its remit. This role ensures scrutiny and challenge to the 
relevant service areas of Education and Children’s Services. 
 
 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Education and Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee report  
PART 1 – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 
 

 
FINAL REPORT: Reviewing current arrangements and future plans for 
safeguarding children at Heathrow Airport as a port of entry 
  

Contact Officer: Natasha Dogra  
Telephone: 01895 277488 

REASON FOR ITEM   
  
For the Committee to consider the final report for this review, prior to submission 
to the Cabinet.  
  
 
OPTIONS OPEN TO THE COMMITTEE   
  

1. To accept the report  
 
2. To amend, add or delete parts of the report. 

  
 
INFORMATION 
 
Background 
 
1. At its meeting in September 2009 the Committee decided to review the 

statutory safeguarding duties of the Council and other agencies with regard to 
young people who arrive unaccompanied and to review current practice. 
Members agreed that the aim of the review would be: 

 
To provide recommendations to Cabinet in support of the Council’s efforts to 
further support the development safeguarding duties with regard to young people 
who arrive unaccompanied, bringing together all the key aspects and necessary 
information to advance the service. 
 
2.   Attached is the final report for the Committee’s consideration. 

 
SUGGESTED OVERVIEW ACTIVITY  
 

• Consider whether any changes would improve the clarity of the report 
 
• To agree the conclusions and recommendations 

 
• If conclusions and recommendations are agreed, Members may also wish 

to agree the final report at this meeting.  
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Education & Children’s Services  
Policy Overview Committee 2010 

 
A Review of  how the Council works with 

partner agencies to provide safeguarding for 
children at Heathrow Airport as a port of 

entry 
 
 

Members of the Committee: 
  

Cllr Catherine Dann (Chairman) 
Cllr Brian Crowe (Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Judith Cooper 
Cllr Peter Curling 
Cllr John Hensley  
Cllr Anita MacDonald (Labour Lead) 

 
 

                  
 
Other Voting Representatives for Education Issues: 

 
Anthony Little - Roman Catholic Diocesan Representative 

 
 
 

Page 13



Reviewing current arrangements and future plans for safeguarding 
children at Heathrow Airport as a port of entry 

 
Contents 

 

 

 

Chairman’s Foreword         i 

 

Introduction           2 

 

Methodology          8  

 

Evidence and Findings         10 

 

Conclusions and Recommendations        17 

 

Appendix A                                                                                          21 

 

Glossary of Terms                                                                              31 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

i 
 

CHAIRMAN’S FOREWORD 

 

 

 

Child trafficking is a very important and sensitive topic, addressing the interests of 

innocent young children. Following the devastating earthquake in Haiti this year which 

has left numerous children orphaned, I believe this review to be very timely and 

therefore I am very grateful to have been given the opportunity to review how the 

London Borough of Hillingdon tackles the issue.  

 

Although the number of trafficked children coming through Heathrow Airport has 

decreased in recent years it remains the duty of the Local Authority to continue to keep 

these numbers as low as possible. The Committee hope that their review 

recommendations will be endorsed to minimize the prospect of child trafficking via 

Heathrow Airport as a port of entry.  

 

The evidence presented by each witness providing an insight into the services tackling 

this difficult yet subversive matter allowed the Committee to understand the delicacy of 

the situation.  The Committee and I are grateful to each and every person who took the 

time to attend Committee meetings. Therefore, on behalf of the Committee, I would like 

to thank the external witnesses and officers for participating in the review. We hope it 

can be used to make constructive improvements to tackling the issue of child trafficking.. 

 

 

Cllr Catherine Dann 

Page 15



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

2 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

What is child trafficking? 

“Exploitation shall include at a minimum, the exploitation or the prostitution of 

others or other forms of sexual exploitation, forced labour or services, slavery 

or practices similar to slavery, servitude or the removal or organs.” – United 

Nations Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking on Persons, 

Especially Women and Children, Supplementing the UN Convention on 

Transnational Organised Crime 2000 (The Palermo Protocol). This is the 

internationally accepted definition of human trafficking adopted by the majority 

of countries across the world, including the UK. 

Child trafficking is the movement of children for the purpose of exploitation. 

Trafficking can affect children of all ages although research indicates that the 

majority of victims in the UK are 12 years or older at the point of discovery 

(source: ECPAT). Throughout this report the term child will be used to 

describe anyone under the age of 18 as laid out in the United Nations 

Convention of the Rights of the Child. 

The trafficking of children is a process made up of 3 distinct phases; 

recruitment, movement and exploitation. The recruitment phase can involve 

deception, coercion, violence or being sold to a third party. It can also involve 

the child going willingly with an adult because they believe they are going to a 

better life. There is no requirement to prove physical threat or coercion to 

determine if the child has been trafficked. If the child is moved from one place 

to another person, then the child is a victim of trafficking.  

Under international law it is accepted that a child cannot consent to his or her 

own exploitation and so even if a child agreed to travel from one place to 

another, this could still be considered human trafficking if there is the intent to 

exploit them along the way or at the final destination. The movement of a child 

can occur across international borders or within one country.  

Page 16



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

3 
 

In the UK children are trafficked for sexual exploitation, domestic servitude, 

forced labour, including restaurant and catering work, manual labour, drug 

trafficking, begging, petty theft, benefit fraud, cultivation of cannabis and 

selling counterfeit goods such as DVDs. There is also evidence of children 

being brought to the UK for forced marriage and illegal adoption. Fortunately, 

there is no evidence to date that children are being trafficked into the UK for 

organ removal. 

Background: Overview of the Children’s Asylum Service and the role of 

the Referral and Assessment Team 

Heathrow Airport is the world’s busiest international airport and it is situated in 

the London Borough of Hillingdon. Hillingdon Children and Families service 

have to deal with the complexities of safeguarding significant numbers of 

children and young people who arrive at this port of entry every year. The 

Children and Families Service have developed a specialist intake service to 

address issues of child safeguarding and age disputes. Heathrow Airport is 

operational 24 hours a day; children and young people can be referred at 

anytime of day or night. Indeed statistical evidence demonstrates that over 

90% are referred outside of the hours of 9.00 am and 5.00 pm Monday to 

Friday. It is also clear that each new arrival must have, in order to maximise 

safeguarding, a rapid and skilled service that is delivered immediately on 

referral.  The dedicated airport intake team has enabled Hillingdon to provide 

such a response to contacts from UK Border Agency UKBA at Heathrow’s five 

terminals and is a unique service. 

 

Safeguarding arrangements 

Safeguarding of children arriving at Heathrow is a high priority for Hillingdon 

Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) and the Child Trafficking Sub 

Group. Staff in Children’s Services work very closely with partners including 

the police and immigration service in relation to safeguarding young people 

who may be victims of trafficking and/or other forms of exploitation. Staff in 

teams across the service have developed specialist skills in safeguarding 

children and young people who arrive from abroad. Out of hours referrals are 

Page 17



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

4 
 

managed by standby staff who are on call. Cases are transferred into the 

appropriate team by the next working day. All UASC (Unaccompanied Asylum 

Seeking Child(ren)) cases are dealt with by the Asylum Service. Non USAC 

cases are dealt with by the Referral and Assessment Team. Each service 

area carries out all statutory and specialist assessments. These teams have 

developed skills in undertaking age assessments and assessments of 

children and young people who are believed to be the victims of trafficking. 

The Asylum Service has contributed to the development of the Trafficking 

Toolkit which is now being used nationally. The ToolKit provides a process 

and procedure for assisting with the identification, assessment and notification 

of children who may be at risk of being trafficked. 

 

Trafficking is a complex issue however over the last two years Hillingdon has 

been working closely with UKBA and the policing agencies to disrupt the 

trafficking of children through Heathrow and put in place strategies to 

discourage young people from leaving the care of Hillingdon children’s 

services. This has led to a reduction of young people who have gone missing 

and the number who have been returned has increased.    

 

 

70

7

54

4

20

4

06/07 07/08 08/09

Missing clients and returns

Returned

Total Missing

 

 

The above graph represents referrals in relation to Heathrow for the past 

three years. 

Page 18



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

5 
 

2006/07 251 total children, 70 went missing  

2007/08 221 total children, 54 went missing  

2008/09 160 total children, 20 went missing 

 

Hillingdon faced a particular challenge in relation to Chinese young people 

going missing soon after arrival. Due to strategies implemented and 

intelligence employed this pattern has been severely disrupted and there has 

been a significant reduction in the arrival rate and numbers of Chinese young 

people going missing. 

 

The ability to respond rapidly and identify potential victims of trafficking at the 

earliest possible opportunity after arrival has also had a positive effect in 

relation to our work in identifying vulnerable children/young people and the 

numbers going missing. 

 

However, the profile of trafficked children and young people is subject to 

frequent change and does not apply to only one nationality. The increased 

communication between all services through the recently implemented 

fortnightly Trafficking Operational Group has led to rapid identification of 

common factors in the stories and profile of those presenting, sharing of 

information and intelligence and co-operation leading to both identifying 

potential victims and potentially disrupting organised crime. 

 

Key Developments 

• Hillingdon has developed unique local level, multi-agency operational 

protocols to combat Child Trafficking and prevent Missing Children at ports 

of entry. This Protocol includes fortnightly operational meetings held at the 

offices of UKBA to consider all children individually who have come to 

notice through the airport terminals. The terms of reference for this 

operational meeting stipulates core membership of the group, and includes  

all relevant key law enforcement agencies, such as the Metropolitan 

Police, [Paladin team], Borough Police and the Heathrow Intelligence Unit, 

as well as UKBA and Children’s Social Care. This operational work is the 

Page 19



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

6 
 

first of its kind, and a model of best practice. The terms of reference for 

this group and the Protocols are being sought by ports of entry throughout 

the UK. [Staff from Hillingdon have been to Manchester airport, 

Birmingham, Stansted and Gatwick to share best practice] 

 

• The LCSB in Hillingdon has established a multi-agency sub group focused 

on Child-trafficking to lead policy and practice. Representation at this 

group includes not only local public and voluntary sector agencies but also 

includes National NGO’s; National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to 

Children (NSPCC), End Child Prostitution, Child Pornography and the 

Trafficking of Children (ECPAT), Child Exploitation and Online Protection 

Centre (CEOP) and Children First, as well as the Private Sector; British 

Airports Authority (BAA) and the Group 4 Securicor (G4S). This 

demonstrates that Hillingdon is influential on a national level and is taking 

a national lead with policy issues which affect points of entry. 

 

• Hillingdon Child Trafficking leaflets have been developed in 10 different 

languages and are being rolled out to Ports of Entry across Europe. One 

Example being Denmark, as Copenhagen is a transition airport for many 

children trafficked into the UK. These leaflets will also be included in the 

National Trafficking Toolkit, which is linked to the national referral 

mechanism administered by the United Kingdom Human Trafficking 

Centre (UKHTC). 

 

• Hillingdon has developed a bespoke Stand by Service to provide a flexible 

and skilled professional response at the Airport terminals. A virtual team 

set up from experienced ‘day time’ staff who are available between 5pm 

and 9am, and also includes weekends, provides this service.  

 

• Hillingdon’s strong partnership working with UKBA and Policing Agencies, 

such as the Serious Organised Crime Agency (SOCA) and Scotland Yard 

has disrupted the trafficking of children through Heathrow Airport. This has 

Page 20



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

7 
 

resulted in both a significant reduction in the number arriving at Heathrow 

and the number of young people who have gone missing (chart 1) 

 

• Statistical information demonstrates that the joined up approach described 

in this document has impacted upon the numbers of children and young 

people arriving. The trends in terms of those that go missing has been 

greatly reduced and the opportunities for law enforcement agencies to 

capture intelligence and take action against offenders has gone up.  

 

• The work has been recognised by the Office for Standards in Education, 

Children's Services and Skills (OFSTED), the Department for Children, 

Schools and Families (DSCF) and the Home Office as a model for best 

practice particularly in the area of child trafficking 

 

Chart 1 

Asylum Service 

Missing Clients    

 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 

Afghani 1 8 5 

Albanian 1 2 0 

Chinese 63 32 4 

Congolese 1 1 0 

Indian 1 6 6 

Iranian 0 1 0 

Iraqi 0 0 1 

Nigerian 0 3 2 

Palestinian 1 0 0 

Somalian 1 1 1 

Syrian 1 0 0 

Vietnamese 0 0 1 

Total 70 54 20 

 

Page 21



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

8 
 

 

B. Children’s Asylum Service 

 

London Borough of Hillingdon
Heathrow quarterly referrals

75

40

52

65

48
39

79

63

34 35
27

42

0
10
20

30
40
50
60

70
80
90

Dec/M arch 08 Apr/Jun 08 Jul/Sept 08 Oct/Dec 08 Jan/M ar 09 Apr/Jun 09

UASC

Non UASC

 

 

 

The Asylum Service currently supports just under 700 children and young 

people 155 who are Looked after Children and 540 Care Leavers  

 

Hillingdon Asylum Clients 
March 2006 to August 2009

1367
1130

996
820

676

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600

M
ar

ch
06

M
ar

ch
07

M
ar

ch
08

M
ar

ch
09

A
ug

us
gt

09

Totals

17.34% 11.76% 17.67% 17.56%

 

 

 

Page 22



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

9 
 

LBH Asylum Client Numbers 
as at March 2005 - 2009

137 149
93

361
300

229
161

120

691

877
806

691

542

61750

200

400

600

800

1000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0/15
16/17
18+

 

 

All Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children under 16 on arrival are placed 

in foster care with a few placed in our specialist residential unit.  

 

Accommodation 

The Service provides a range of semi- independent and shared 

accommodation for Looked After Children and Care Leavers. All 

accommodation is of a high standard and in addition to young people having 

allocated workers the service commissions a range of outreach support via 

Notting Hill Housing Group and a voluntary organisation Aphelia. 

 

16-18 year olds 

A 47 room supported unit providing self-contained units and including 3 

emergency rooms for newly arrived young people and a 26 room unit and 1 

disability room are staffed and of a very high specification and standard. 

 

Mother & Baby Accommodation 

20 flats/bed sits for sole occupancy 

5 shared houses  

 

18+ Accommodation  

 

Page 23



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

10 
 

90 shared houses (350 rooms)  

 

The Asylum Service has low numbers of NEET (Not in Education Training or 

Employment) with the majority (85%) of children and young people in 

education, training or employment. As at 1st March 2009, 695 young people 

101 (15%) are NEET. Included in the NEET figures are very newly arrived 

young people (9); Missing (10); Prison/ Detained (4). 121 (24%) of our 18+ 

care leavers (total 514) are in Higher Education.  

 

Well-being Project (WBP) 

A mainly Department of Health funded project which for the past 4 years has 

provided specialist mental health assessment and treatment including 

individual and group work and creative therapies for UASCs. For example the 

Orientation Memory Box offers newly arrived young people support in relation 

to emotional and physiological needs and assist their successful orientation 

and integration into the UK. The WBP also offers consultation, training and 

support to staff carers and interpreters. 

 

The legal framework 

International agreements and legal instruments relevant to trafficked and 

exploited children include: 

Ï Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human 

Beings (2005). 

Ï The Yokohama Global Commitment agreed at the Second World Congress 

on the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children (Yokohama, 2001). 

Ï The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (United Nations, 

1989), its Optional Protocol on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and 

Child Pornography (2000) and the Optional Protocol on the Involvement on 

Children in Armed Conflict (2000). 

Ï The Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, 

especially Women and Children, Supplementing the United Nations 

Convention against Transnational Organised Crime (2000). 

Page 24



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

11 
 

Ï International Labour Organisation (ILO) Convention 182 concerning the 

Elimination of the Worst Forms of Child Labour (2000). 

Ï The Declaration and Agenda for Action agreed at the First World Congress 

on the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children (Stockholm, 1996). 

 

In 2000 trafficking became enshrined in international law for the first time 

through the Palermo Protocol within the United Nations Protocol to Prevent, 

Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children. 

The Protocol defines trafficking as: “The recruitment, transportation, transfer, 

harbouring or receipt of a child for the purpose of exploitation shall be 

considered ‘trafficking in persons’ even if this does not involve any of the 

means set forth.” 

 

UK Legislation and guidance relevant to trafficked and exploited children 

includes: 

● The Children Act 1989. 

● The Children Act 2004. 

● The Nationality, Immigration and Asylum Act 2002. 

● The Sexual Offences Act 2003. 

● The Asylum and Immigration (Treatment of Claimants etc) Act 2004.d Lon 

● Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

● Working Together to Safeguard Children (2006). 

● What to do if you’re worried a child is being abused (2006). 

● Safeguarding Children Involved in Prostitution (2000) (currently being 

revised). 

Ï The UK Action Plan on Tackling Human Trafficking (2007). 

 

Connections with Other Strategies 

• Children and Young Peoples Plan 

• Hillingdon Safeguarding Children’s Board 

 

Page 25



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

12 
 

Reason for the Review 

To provide recommendations to Cabinet in support of the Council’s efforts to 

further support the development safeguarding duties with regard to young 

people who arrive unaccompanied, bringing together all the key aspects and 

necessary information to advance the service. 

 

Aim of the Review 

To review the statutory safeguarding duties of the Council and other agencies 

with regard to young people who arrive unaccompanied and to review current 

practice. 

 

Terms of Reference 

1. To learn more about the world and dangers of Child Trafficking; 

2. To understand how we safeguard newly arrived vulnerable children 

and young people, including assessment and intervention; 

3. To understand the role of key agencies and seek assistant on the 

effectiveness of partnership working; 

4. To investigate if there are further developments to best practice which 

can enhance current services to promote safeguarding and reduce the 

risk of trafficking; 

5. To examine best practice elsewhere through case studies, policy ideas, 

witness sessions and visits; 

6. After due consideration of the above, to bring forward positive and 

practical policy recommendations to the Cabinet in relations to the 

Council’s approach to Child Trafficking in Hillingdon. 

Page 26



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

13 
 

METHODOLOGY 

 

As part of their review, the Policy Overview Committee received reports, 

presentations and heard from witnesses.   

 

Meetings held in January, February, March and April 2010 involved taking 

evidence from a range of witnesses: 

• Amanda Reid, UK Border Agency, Heathrow Operations 

• Detective Inspector Gordon Valentine, Metropolitan Police 

• Jane Graver, Head of Care, Respite Unit 

• Richard Nash, Manager, Children & Families Team, LBH 

• Paula Neil, Manager of Asylum Team, LBH 

• Debbie Haith, Head of Safeguarding, LBH 

 

The Committee sought to gain information on the following issues: 

§ How far does the existing provision meet the needs of this group of 

children? 

§ Are there any particular pressures / issues affecting Hillingdon? 

§ What are the strengths and weaknesses of current approaches? 

§ What changes can be made in Hillingdon?  

§ How should agencies work more effectively together to address the 

issues facing the safeguarding of children? 

§ Are there any particular issues in Hillingdon affecting good 

safeguarding practice? 

The findings from this review are presented in the following section of this 

report.  

  

Page 27



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

14 
 

EVIDENCE & FINDINGS 

The following evidence was gathered at the witness sessions, which took 

place at the Committee meetings in January, February, March and April 2010. 

 

Statistics 

• 2006/07 251 arrivals of which 28% (70) went missing 

• 2007/08 221 arrivals of which 24% (54) went missing 

• 2008/09 160 arrivals of which 13% (20) went missing 

• 2009 to date 184 arrivals of which 4% (7) have gone missing. 

 

In 2006/7 a significant number of young people went missing, a large 

proportion of who were from a Chinese background. This was largely due to 

an uncoordinated approach from the multi-agencies involved in the process of 

safeguarding at the port of entry; UKBA, Met Police and LBH. 

 

During the latter part of 2008 a major break through occurred when a Chinese 

female who had previously absconded from a borough respite unit returned. 

She had been held against her will and prostituted. She assisted in delivering 

key messages to new arrivals about what may happen to them should they 

abscond. This together with arrests made outside of the UK by UKBA 

significantly disrupted the trafficking of Chinese nationals through Heathrow. 

 

Interagency Coordination 

Immigration was the first point of contact with the trafficked child. The Asylum 

Team worked very closely with Immigration at the Heathrow Port of Entry due 

to the need to provide intense support to the children in the first few days after 

arrival. The level of support available out-of-hours had also increased due to a 

larger capacity of staff available to respond to children arriving at Heathrow 

Airport.  

 

The Paladin team at Heathrow was a joint unit of Metropolitan Police Officers 

and UK Border Agency staff with immigration backgrounds and their remit is 

Page 28



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

15 
 

to deal with all cases involving vulnerable children. These ranged from 

referrals from the front line, where there were child protection concerns to 

major criminal investigations involving child trafficking across borders.  

 

The Paladin Team was the largest Child Abuse Investigatory Group in the 

world. The team worked closely with the Social Services teams in London 

Boroughs. Along with tackling child trafficking, the Paladin Team investigated 

child murders and child abuse. The biggest strength of the Paladin team was 

the number of police officers and UKBA officers involved in the team. The 

Paladin team also engaged outside bodies such as NSPCC, London Borough 

of Hillingdon and ACPO (Association of Chief Police Officers). ACPO 

investigated child trafficking with the help of other crime agencies.  

 

In 2003, the Paladin Team provided the Home Office with 26 

recommendations that, if adopted, would help tackle the problem of child 

trafficking. Every recommendation was agreed and put into practice.  

 

The most effective way to tackle child trafficking would be by using a multi-

agency response. The excellent communication links that had been created in 

the last few years had led to a significant reduction in the number of children 

going missing from the Heathrow Port of Entry. 

 

The Heathrow Operations Team was involved in raising staff awareness of 

the problem of child trafficking and ensuring staff were confident enough to 

cope in a situation where suspected traffickers were confronted. The work of 

the team involved stopping any unaccompanied child under the age of 18, 

making enquiries to determine the reason of visit of the child and interviewing 

the child in a comfortable and suitable environment.  

 

A visit by the then Prime Minister Tony Blair to T5 allowed the Heathrow 

Operations team to highlight the problem of child trafficking with the PM. 

Following his visit, an “unaccompanied by” visa was launched to be used by 

all children under the age of 18 and must state who the child was travelling 

Page 29



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

16 
 

with. Following this introduction, the number of children travelling alone 

reduced significantly.  

 

The UKBA worked closely with airlines and airports that referred any 

suspicious behaviour to the UKBA. After a child was referred by the UKBA to 

LBH it was the safeguarding team’s priority to ensure the safety of that child. 

The team also assisted agencies in preventing child trafficking by attending 

regular meetings and sub-groups.  

 

Regular meetings took place between inter agencies and officers from other 

boroughs. This ensured that the problem was tackled laterally. The links that 

had been established between multi-agencies, councils and the police were 

commendable. Without these links, officers would not be able to tackle the 

problem of child trafficking. 

 

Trends and Patterns 

The Asylum Team supported unaccompanied minors who ranged from under 

16 year olds to 24 year olds. Many of these children were assessed as being 

victims of child trafficking and some pleaded asylum. The awareness around 

child trafficking had risen to a higher level and as a result the London Borough 

of Hillingdon was very proactive in their response to this activity. The level of 

understanding around child trafficking and the level of support available had 

developed significantly in the last few years. For example, it had been noted 

that profiles and patterns between trafficked children varied according to the 

differing ethnicities of the children.  

 

Residential Units 

Staff at respite units worked very closely with the child to ensure that they 

were as comfortable as possible. Staff understood that the child would be 

frightened of their new surroundings and therefore treated the child with 

respect and care. The child was made to feel safe, but most children 

appeared withdrawn and traumatised at first.  

 

Page 30



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

17 
 

Children were monitored at all times and accompanied in and around the 

centre. The profiling of the children allowed trends to be established, which 

led to fake stories being picked up early on. Children were usually told what to 

say by their traffickers and therefore it was difficult for staff to unveil the truth 

about their origin and purpose of their visit.  

A significant number of trafficked children are female. Witnesses said that 

some of these females are pregnant on arrival and appropriate 

accommodation and support is provided for them. 

Most children were afraid of returning home due to unpaid fees to traffickers. 

Children had been bought here on a promise of a better life and therefore did 

not want to return home. However, some children agree to ‘voluntary removal’ 

and are returned home where it is possible and safe to return home.  

Residential units have classrooms where children can be taught and a library 

where the children can further their knowledge. The cook in the unit was very 

creative and tried to involve the children as much as possible. Medical issues 

were dealt with very seriously and each child was screened for any medical 

issues relating to their country of origin. Children were assessed and only 

then allowed out of the centre alone, for example to travel to college. The 

units are funded by central government and the UKBA asylum grant. 

Due to a combination of increased education around child trafficking and 

improved communication between immigration, the police and the Asylum 

Service and Referral & Assessment Teams the information about each child 

was shared at fortnightly meetings. This allowed better intelligence, better 

sharing of information and less disruption of the assessment period when the 

child arrives. This in turn led to a reduction in the number of children going 

missing from respite unites, as their needs were anticipated and patterns were 

developed which were flagged up by staff to ensure certain children were 

monitored very closely.  

Aid from Country of Origin 

Page 31



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

18 
 

It was apparent that was a lack of support from the child’s country of origin. It 

was possible for immigration to track down the route of the child, but the route 

was usually extremely long-winded and had taken months to complete. 

Therefore embassies of other countries were reluctant to help as it was 

difficult to prove that the child was there and the purpose of the child’s visit. 

Nevertheless, the Country of Origin was not important when protecting a 

trafficked child. A child coming in from the Far East was treated in the same 

way as a child coming in from the EU.  

 

Areas Requiring Further Development 

The London Borough of Hillingdon had done very well in developing the 

standard of the asylum service and the safeguarding of trafficked children. 

The development of the provision of resources had also helped this process. 

One area which needed developing was the level of training and support 

available for foster carers. Foster carers needed to be trained on the risks 

involved when a child tries to escape and how to monitor the child when they 

cannot be cared for by the carer. More support was needed in the early days 

following the fostering of a child. Witnesses informed the Committee that 

foster carers got an initial briefing but were not specifically trained in caring for 

trafficked children. Specific skills were necessary when working with this 

group of children which needed to be developed.  

Foster Care 

Private fostering was defined in section 66 of the Children Act 1989. A private 

fostering arrangement arose when a child under 16 years (or under 18 if 

disabled) was to reside for more than 28 days in the care of someone who 

was not a parent, close relative, or someone with parental responsibility 

(these close relatives were defined by the Act as grandparents, brother, sister, 

uncle or aunt whether of the full blood or half blood or by marriage or civil 

partnership or step-parent). Parents and private foster carers were required to 

notify the local authority of a private fostering arrangement. A person who 

proposed to foster a child privately must notify the appropriate local authority 

of the proposal at least six weeks before the private fostering arrangement 

Page 32



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

19 
 

was to begin; or where the private fostering arrangement was to begin within 

six weeks, immediately. 

 

Many private fostering arrangements were not notified to the local authority for 

a variety of reasons, not all of them associated with a risk of serious harm. 

Identifying a child who was privately fostered was not the same as identifying 

a child who has been trafficked. Nevertheless, some children in private 

fostering arrangements were vulnerable to being exploited in domestic 

servitude, other forms of forced labour, or even to sexual exploitation. It was 

difficult for practitioners to identify these children and, therefore, to track their 

movements and hence monitor their welfare. However, it was important to 

consider whether a carer, whether or not they present as a relative, was 

maintaining a private fostering arrangement in order to exploit a child for their 

own gain.  Staff or volunteers in an agency who believed that a child may be 

privately fostered, whether or not they have suspicions or concerns about 

trafficking or other forms of abuse, should contact local authority children’s 

social care.  

 

Local authorities had the following statutory duties in relation to private 

fostering: 

Ï identify private fostering arrangements;  

Ï visit the home and assess the suitability of the arrangement in terms of the 

child’s welfare; and 

Ï visit the child regularly, and monitor and keep records of the placement. 

Such enquiries should help practitioners be alert to signs that the child is 

being exploited.  

 

Media Interest 

The timeliness and importance of an exceptionally topical subject was 

addressed by local press in a borough-wide newspaper article following a 

useful witness session (Appendix A). 

 

Page 33



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

20 
 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

The Committee reviewed the duties, functions, performance of and 

services providing safeguarding for children at Heathrow Airport as a 

port of entry. Taking into account user and professional experience, 

below is a summary of the Committee’s conclusions. 

 

The Committee conclude: 

 

1. The Committee would like to commend the current ways in which the 

Council is working with partner agencies to provide safeguarding for 

children at Heathrow Airport.  

2. There is a need for better interagency communication. This would allow 

different agencies to share expertise, best practise and information 

regarding emerging trends and patterns. In turn, this information could be 

used to tackle the issue with a better foundation of knowledge about the 

problem and the results should echo this improvement.  

3. Training for foster carers needs to be developed. The Local Authority 

needs to ensure that carers are best suited for the task at hand and were 

fully capable of caring for a child.  

4. There is a desirability of cooperation, involvement and support from 

embassies of countries where children are being trafficked from to enable 

better communication links and an inter-nation effort to help confront the 

problem of child trafficking.  

Following this evidence, we therefore recommend that the Council develop 

the way in which it works with partner agencies to provide safeguarding for 

children at Heathrow Airport as a port of entry provision in accordance with 

the following recommendations to be approved by Cabinet. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Page 34



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

21 
 

Following the review of how the Council works with partner agencies to 

provide safeguarding for children at Heathrow Airport as a port of entry the 

Committee would like to bring the following key points to the attention of 

Cabinet: 

 

That Cabinet consider the following proposals to improve and develop 

the services which provide safeguarding for children trafficked through 

Heathrow Airport and ask officers to progress those that they support. 

 

The Committee recommend that: 

 

a.) A bespoke training programme is developed for foster carers and 

residential staff who care for this group of vulnerable of children.   

 

b.) Inspections take place at foster homes by officers – this can be 

performed through supervising social worker visits to foster carers 

to review the safeguarding arrangements. 

 

c.) The communication links between partner agencies are developed 

further through the work of the Trafficking Sub Group of the 

Hillingdon Safeguarding Children’s Board and national and 

international links are strengthened.  

 

d.) That Cabinet are aware of changes which may occur at a national 

level that could affect the viability of the Safeguarding policy in the 

future – information will be monitored and missing children will be 

regularly reported to Hillingdon Safeguarding Children Board. This 

information will form part of future Safeguarding reporting 

arrangements to Committee 

 

e.) Cabinet invites the Education and Children's Services Policy 

Overview Committee to review the council's approach to 

safeguarding trafficked children, should at a later date, national 

Page 35



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

22 
 

policy and legislation on this matter alter direction so that Cabinet 

are made aware of potential changes policy changes at a  national 

level that could affect impact on safeguarding arrangements. 

Page 36



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

23 
 

 
 

Appendix A 

Page 37



 
Education & Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee 

24 
 

Glossary of Terms 
 
ACPO  Association of Chief Police Officers 
ARC   Application Registration Card 
ASUs   Asylum Screening Units 
BIA   Border and Immigration Agency 
CAF  Common Assessment Framework 
CAIU   Child Abuse Investigation Unit 
CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
CEOP  Child Exploitation and Online Protection Centre 
CTN   Coming To Notice 
CRB   Criminal Records Bureau 
CROP  Coalition for the Removal of Pimping 
CPS   Crown Prosecution Service 
DCSF  Department for Children, Schools and Families 
DH   Department of Health 
ECPAT  End Child Prostitution, Child Pornography and Trafficking of 

Children for Sexual Purposes UK 
GUM   Genito-Urinary Medicine 
ILO   International Labour Organisation 
LAC   Looked After Child(ren) 
LSCB  Local Safeguarding Children Board 
NASS  National Asylum Support Services 
NRUC  National Register for Unaccompanied Children 
NSPCC  National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children 
UAS   Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker 
UASC  Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Child(ren) 
UKBA  United Kingdom Border Agency 
UNICEF  United Nations Children’s Fund 
UKHTC  United Kingdom Human Trafficking Centre 
YOT   Youth Offending Team 

Page 38



Education and Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee report   
PART 1 – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN: ITEMS GOING TO CABINET OR 
CABINET MEMBERS FOR DECISION THAT FALL 
WITHIN THE COMMITTEE’S REMIT 
 

 

Contact officer: Natasha Dogra 
Telephone: 01895 277488 

 
REASON FOR ITEM 

 
The Committee is required by its Terms of Reference to consider the Forward 
Plan and comment as appropriate to the decision-maker on key decisions 
which relate to services within its remit (before they are taken by Cabinet or 
Cabinet Member). 
 
 
OPTIONS OPEN TO THE COMMITTEE 
 

• To comment on items going to Cabinet or Cabinet Member for 
decision.   
 

• Or to note the items and decide not to comment. 
 

 
INFORMATION 
 
1. The latest published Forward Plan for 2009/10 is attached. The Committee 

may wish to consider the non standard items that fall within its remit.  
 
 
SUGGESTED COMMITTEE ACTIVITY 
 
• Consider whether there are comments or suggestions that the Committee 

wishes to make that will aid Cabinet decision-making.  
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



Ref Report Title Advance information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em
b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n

B
ac
kg
ro
u
n
d
 

D
o
cu
m
en
ts

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

SI Reports from Policy Overview 
Committees

Major Policy Review recommendations for 
consideration by the Cabinet as and when 
completed.

TBC as 
appropriate

DCEO                   
Democratic 
Services

SI Standard Items taken each 
month by the Cabinet 
Member

Cabinet Members make a number of decisions 
each month on standard items - details of these 
standard items are listed at the end of the 
Forward Plan. 

Various All DCEO         
Democratic 
Services 

Various Various

SI Reports from Policy Overview 
Committees

Major Policy Review recommendations for 
consideration by the Cabinet as and when 
completed.

TBC as 
appropriate

DCEO                   
Democratic 
Services

SI Standard Items taken each 
month by the Cabinet 
Member

Cabinet Members make a number of decisions 
each month on standard items - details of these 
standard items are listed at the end of the 
Forward Plan. 

Various All DCEO         
Democratic 
Services 

Various Various

SI Reports from Policy Overview 
Committees

Major Policy Review recommendations for 
consideration by the Cabinet as and when 
completed.

TBC as 
appropriate

DCEO                   
Democratic 
Services

The Cabinet Forward Plan                                                     Period of Plan: March 2010 to June 2010 inclusive

CABINET MEMBER - LIST OF STANDARD ITEMS CONSIDERED EACH MONTH

ASCH&H = Adult Social Care, Health & Housing; DCEO = Deputy Chief Executive's Office; E&CS = Education & Children's Services; E&CP = Envt & Consumer Protection; F&R = Finance & Resources; P&CS = Planning & Community Services

CABINET - 24 JUNE 2010

CABINET - 15 APRIL 2010

CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS - APRIL 2010

CABINET - 27 MAY 2010

CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS - MAY 2010

                                           

P
age 41



Ref Report Title Advance information Ward(s) R
ep
o
rt
 t
o
 F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
ci
l

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em
b
er
(s
) 

R
es
p
o
n
si
b
le

O
ff
ic
er
 

C
o
n
ta
ct

C
o
n
su
lt
at
io
n

B
ac
kg
ro
u
n
d
 

D
o
cu
m
en
ts

N
E
W
 IT
E
M

ASCH&H = Adult Social Care, Health & Housing; DCEO = Deputy Chief Executive's Office; E&CS = Education & Children's Services; E&CP = Envt & Consumer Protection; F&R = Finance & Resources; P&CS = Planning & Community Services

SI Constitutions of School 
Governing Bodies and 
appointment of LA Governors

To approve appointments and reappointments of 
local authority governors and to approve any 
changes to school governing body constitutions

Cllr David 
Simmonds

DCEO         
Democratic 
Services 

Requests from 
School 
Governing 
Bodies

SI Petitions about matters under 
the control of the Cabinet

Cabinet Members will consider a number of 
petitions received by local residents and 
organisations and decide on future action. These 
will be arranged as Petition Hearings.

as 
appropriate

DCEO         
Democratic 
Services 

Petitions to the 
Council

SI External funding bids To authorise the making of bids for external 
funding where there is no requirement for a 
financial commitment from the Council.

as 
appropriate

various

SI Response to key 
consultations that may 
impact upon the Borough

A standard item to capture any emerging 
consultations from Government, the GLA or 
other public bodies and institutions that will 
impact upon the Borough. Where the deadline to 
respond cannot be met by the date of the 
Cabinet meeting, the Constitution allows the 
Cabinet Member to sign-off the response.

TBC as 
appropriate

DCEO                   
Democratic 
Services

                                           

P
age 42



Education and Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee report     
PART 1 – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 

 
2009/10 WORK PROGRAMME  

Contact Officer: Natasha Dogra 
Telephone: 01895 277488 

 
REASON FOR REPORT 
 
This report is to enable the Committee to review meeting dates and forward 
plans. This is a standard item at the end of each agenda.  
 
 
OPTIONS OPEN TO THE COMMITTEE 
 

1. To confirm dates for meetings  
 

2. To make suggestions for future working practices and/or reviews.  
 
 

INFORMATION 
 
Meeting Dates and Rooms - Meetings start at 7pm unless indicated 
below 
 

Meetings Room 
  
10th June 2009 CR 4 
8th July 2009 CR 4  
9th September 2009 CR 4 
22nd October 2009 CR 4 
26th November 2009 CR 4 
27th  January 2010 CR 3 
11th February 2010 CR 3 
23rd March 2010 CR 3 
27th April 2010 CR 3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 43



Education and Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee report     
PART 1 – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 

EDUCATION AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES POLICY OVERVIEW 
COMMITTEE 

 
2009/10 

 
WORK PROGRAMME 

 
Meeting Date Item 
 
10th June 2009 
All Members 

Building Schools for the 21st Century – all Members 
briefing, presented by Head of Education and 
Children’s Services, Chris Spencer. 

Education and 
Children’s Services 
POC Committee 
Members ONLY 
 

Work Programme 2009/10. 

Inclusion Review – agree scoping report. 

 
 

Inclusion Review – Witness Session 1 

Maths Inclusion update 

Performance and Financial Management reports 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

8th July 2009 

Work Programme 

 
 

Inclusion Review – Witness Session 2 

Review 2 – receive various scoping reports and 
agree second review topic for 2009/10. 

Work Programme 

9th September 2009 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

 
 

Inclusion Review  – conclusions and 
recommendations 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

Review 2 – scoping report 

22nd October 2009 
 
 

Work Programme 

 
  
26th November 2009 Inclusion Review – agreed Final report 

Page 44



Education and Children’s Services Policy Overview Committee report     
PART 1 – MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 

 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

Quarterly Child Social Care Audit Update 2009/10 

Work Programme 

 
 

Quarterly Child Social Care Audit Update 2009/10 
 

11th January 2010 

Education Attainment Report 2008/9 
 

 
 

Review 2 – Witness Session 1 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

Budget Reports and Group Plans 2010 

27th  January 2010 

Work Programme 

 
 

Review 2 – Witness Session 2 11th February 2010 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

 
 

Review 2 – Agree Conclusion and recommendations 

Update – achievement of looked-after child and 
report on virtual schooling. 

Overview of safeguarding responsibilities and 
scrutiny  paper 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

23rd March 2010 

Work Programme 

 
 

Review 2 – agree final report 

School Entry (P 31)  - written report providing more  
information on the implications of having to find 
additional school entry places  

Update on the progress of Children's Centres  

27th April 2010 

Cabinet Forward Plan 

 
 
 
 

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To receive and agree the minutes of 11 February 2010
	5 Update - achievement of looked-after child and report on virtual schooling
	6 Overview of safeguarding responsibilities and scrutiny paper
	7 Review 2: Child Trafficking - conclusions and recommendations
	Child Trafficking final report 1

	8 To agree the Forward Plan 2010
	fp

	9 To agree the Work Programme 2010

